

Statutory Restrictions on the Position of Secretary of Defense: Issues for Congress

Kathleen J. McInnis

Analyst in International Security

Updated January 5, 2017

Congressional Research Service

7-.... www.crs.gov R44725

Summary

The proposed nomination of General (Ret.) James Mattis, United States Marine Corps (hereinafter referred to as "General Mattis"), who retired from the military in 2013, to be Secretary of Defense requires both houses of Congress to consider whether and how to suspend—or remove—a provision contained in Title 10 U.S.C. §113 that states,

A person may not be appointed as Secretary of Defense within seven years after relief from active duty as a commissioned officer of a regular component of an armed force.

This provision was originally contained in the 1947 National Security Act (P.L. 80-253), which mandated that 10 years pass between the time an officer is relieved from active duty and when he or she could be appointed to the office of the Secretary of Defense. Only one exception to this provision has been made. Enacted on September 18, 1950, at the special request of President Truman during a time of conflict, P.L. 81-788 authorized the suspension of statutory requirements otherwise prohibiting General of the Army George C. Marshall from serving as Secretary of Defense. In 2007, Section 903 of the FY2008 National Defense Authorization Act (P.L. 110-181), Congress changed the period of time that must elapse between relief from active duty and appointment to the position of Secretary of Defense to seven years.

In response to the proposed nomination of General Mattis to the position of Secretary of Defense, Congress established special "fast track" procedures governing Senate consideration of a bill or joint resolution which would suspend the existing seven-year restriction (Section 179 of the Further Continuing and Security Assistance Appropriations Act, 2017 [P.L. 114-254]). Accordingly, there are at least three basic options that Congress may pursue as it considers the issue of General Mattis's nomination:

- suspending the statutory requirement that seven years elapse between relief from active duty and appointment to position of Secretary of Defense;
- eliminating entirely or reducing the statutory requirement that seven years elapse between relief from active duty and appointment to position of Secretary of Defense; and
- choosing not to pass legislation that would suspend the provision in Title 10, U.S.C. that currently prohibits General Mattis to become Secretary of Defense.

Related to the latter, the Senate might also choose to consider General Mattis's nomination, regardless of whether or not Congress passes legislation designed to suspend or remove the relevant provision in Title 10, U.S.C. Should the Senate choose to pursue this option, it is not clear what the legal implications might be.

Historically, the restriction relating to the prior military service of the Secretary of Defense appears to be a product of congressional concern about preserving the principle of civilian control of the military, a fundamental tenet underpinning the design and operation of the American republic since its inception in 1776, if not before. At the conclusion of World War II, some observers believed that the operational experience during the war pointed to the need for better integration of the military services, and therefore argued for the establishment of what would become the Department of Defense. Others, however, voiced concern that this greater degree of integration might overly empower the military, and thus threaten civilian control of the military. Accordingly, as the 81st Congress considered whether, and how, it should create a National Military Establishment, it determined to enact several provisions to mitigate the risk that greater military integration would come at the expense of civilian control. These included restrictions on military service member eligibility for the position of Secretary of Defense, and limitations on the

powers of the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff. Nearly 67 years later, the proposed nomination of General Mattis has again generated a debate among policymakers, scholars, and practitioners regarding what civilian control of the military means in a contemporary context, and how to best uphold that principle.

Contents

| Introduction 1 | |
|--|---|
| The Principle of Civilian Control of the Military 1 | |
| Origins of the American Principle of Civilian Control of the Military |) |
| Civilian Control of the Military: Congressional and Executive Branch | |
| Responsibilities | |
| The Military Culture of Respecting Civilian Control | |
| Keeping the Standing Army Small4 | ŀ |
| World War II and the National Security Act of 19475 | ; |
| Opposition to a New Department of National Defense | 5 |
| Preserving Civilian Control of the Military in the 1947 Act and Restricting the | |
| Position of Secretary of Defense | 3 |
| Suspending the Restrictions on Prior Military Service of the Secretary of Defense: | |
| The Appointment of General Marshall 8 | 3 |
| Statutory Changes to the Restriction on Secretary of Defense Eligibility in the | |
| FY2008 National Defense Authorization Act (P.L. 110-181)11 | L |
| Civil-Military Relations Today and the Nomination of General Mattis |) |
| Current State of Play | ; |
| Expedited Procedures Governing Senate Consideration of Legislation Waiving a | |
| Restriction Related to the Military Service of the Secretary of Defense | ; |
| Basic Legislative Options |) |

Appendixes

| Appendix. Legislative History of the Appointment of General George C. Marshall to the | |
|---|------|
| Position of Secretary of Defense | . 18 |

Contacts

| Author C | Contact Information | tion | | | |
|----------|---------------------|------|--|--|--|
|----------|---------------------|------|--|--|--|

Introduction

This report is designed to assist Congress as it considers how to proceed with the proposed nomination of General (Ret.) James Mattis to be Secretary of Defense. After exploring the history of the statutory restriction and its evolution over time (see "Preserving Civilian Control of the Military in the 1947 Act and Restricting the Position of Secretary of Defense"), it touches upon some of the broader questions that have recently been raised in the public debate on whether, and how, this proposed nomination might impact civilian-military relations and the principle of civilian control of the military.

The Principle of Civilian Control of the Military

How to advance the nation's security while at the same time ensuring that instruments of force do not undermine the practice of American democracy has been a central question since the founding of the United States, if not before. The principle of *civilian control* of the military places ultimate authority over U.S. armed services in the hands of civilian leadership, with civilian responsibility and control of the military balanced between the executive and legislative branches of the government. In some ways, the relationship between the military and the civil society it serves can be thought of as a paradox: the military, by its very nature, has coercive power that could threaten civil society. Yet without a sufficiently strong and capable military, civil society becomes vulnerable to attack, and the former might not be able to defend the latter. The United States has balanced this tension through formulating and promulgating the principle of civilian control of the military.¹ The fact that this principle has remained relatively unchallenged over the course of American history is, by most accounts, remarkable.² This section briefly outlines the history of the principle of civilian control of the military, and how it influenced legislation over time.

Civilian Control of the Military vs. "Civil-Military Relations"

General Mattis's nomination has brought up two separate but related concepts. *Civilian control of the military* refers to the principle upon which the United States founded its relationship between the military and the civil society it serves. In the United States, the military is ultimately subordinate to civilian authority.

By contrast, *"civil-military relations"* is an umbrella term that refers to the discussion and exploration of issues associated with how a military interacts with society and its governing institutions. Issues that students of civilian-military relations explore include, but are not limited to, who controls the military; how influential should a military be within society; what is the appropriate role of the military; what behavioral patterns and processes best ensure military effectiveness and the preservation of civilian control; and who serves in the military. While scholars have explored various tensions and stresses in civil-military relations over the course of U.S. history, those tensions have not resulted in a meaningful, direct threat to the principle of civilian control of the American military.

¹ See Mackubin Thomas Owens, U.S. Civil-Military Relations after 9/11: Renegotiating the Civil-Military Bargain (New York: Continuum International Publishing Group) 2011, and Rosa Brooks, "Civil-Military Paradoxes," as found in Jim Mattis and Kori N. Schake (eds), Warriors and Citizens: American Views of Our Military, (Stanford, CA: Hoover Institution Press, 2016), pp. 21-68.

² While there have certainly been tensions and differences of view between the military and its civilian counterparts, none have resulted in a direct threat to the civilian leadership of the United States, such as a coup or a putsch. Arguably one instance where it was a close call was President Lincoln's dismissal of General McClellan during the early stages of the Civil War. Although McClellan's troops threatened to throw leaders in Washington into the Potomac for dismissing McClellan, McClellan himself encouraged his men to support his successor.

Origins of the American Principle of Civilian Control of the Military³

The designers of the Constitution were deeply skeptical of a standing military as, much like Oliver Cromwell demonstrated in 1653 when he used his army to disband Parliament, such a military instrument could also overthrow the government it professed to serve. Indeed, consternation regarding the British deployment of its military to the American colonies without the consent of local governing officials was among the key grievances listed in the Declaration of Independence and helped inform the Third Amendment of the Constitution.⁴ Applied to the context of a new, experimental, and democratic Republic, the Founding Fathers believed that subordination of the military to the authority of civil masters was critically important in order to prevent the emergence of a new form of tyranny or dictatorship.⁵

The principle was put to the test even before the American state was founded. During the Revolutionary War, particularly, upon the surrender of Cornwallis at Yorktown, the prestige of the American military was at its height, while regard for the Continental Congress—the civilian authority to which General George Washington reported—was dwindling. Had Washington, a popular figure at the time, been any less devoted to democratic principles, a New World variety of despotism might have been established. Indeed, there were ample opportunities for General Washington to install himself as a dictator—which would likely have had the end result of swapping one form of monarchical rule for another. As the war drew to a close, a group of his associates, cognizant of the impotence of the American Confederation, begged him to set himself up as the authoritarian head of a new government.⁶ Washington refused, arguably preventing the emergence of a military-authoritarian government in the process.⁷

Subsequent to the Revolutionary War, the fragility of the Confederation government was highlighted by the 1786 Shays rebellion, the first armed rebellion in the post-Revolutionary United States. The Shays Rebellion was a local uprising in Massachusetts in response to high taxes and difficult economic conditions. In September 1786, Captain Daniel Shays, along with

³ Much of the material used in this section is drawn from a report authored by David E. Lockwood, *A Brief History and Analysis of Civilian Control of the Military*, Congressional Research Service, Library of Congress, January 20, 1974.

⁴ The Declaration of Independence, in cataloging the tyrannical acts of George III, argued that "[h]e has kept among us, in times of peace, Standing Armies without the consent of our legislature. He has affected to render the military independent of and superior to the Civil Power."

⁵ The June 12, 1776, Virginia Declaration of Rights, which influenced the Declaration of Independence, states "That a well regulated militia, composed of the body of the people, trained to arms, is the proper, natural, and safe defence of a free state; that standing armies, in time of peace, should be avoided, as dangerous to liberty; and that, in all cases, the military should be under strict subordination to, and be governed by, the civil power." https://www.loc.gov/exhibits/ treasures/tr00.html#obj6.

⁶ Ralph H. Gabriel, "Chapter XIV: Laying the Foundations of the American Nation," in *School of the Citizen Solider: Adapted from the Education Program of the Second Army, Lieutenant General Ben Lear, Commanding*, ed. Robert A. Griffin (New York: D. Appleton-Century Company, 1942), p. 187. https://catalog.hathitrust.org/Record/000314517.

⁷ Washington also played a critical role in preventing the 1783 Newburgh conspiracy from taking root. Revolutionary officers, frustrated with overall deprivation and the Continental Congress's seeming unwillingness to pay their salaries or post-war pensions, threatened to (1) not fight if the war continued and (2) not to demobilize after the war until their accounts were settled. Washington interceded at a meeting of these potentially insubordinate officers, pleading to their patriotism. As a result, a compromise was struck between the military and the Continental Congress regarding pay; however, the incident also created further fears that a standing army might be a threat to a civilian government. See Richard W. Steward (ed), American Military History Volume 1: The United States Army and the Forging of a Nation, 1775-1917, (Washington, DC: Center for Military History, 2005) p. 109. http://www.history.army.mil/books/AMH-V1/ ch05.htm

other Massachusetts leaders, led several hundred armed men to close some local courts in order to prevent the execution of foreclosures and other debt processes. In January 1787, Shays led approximately 1,200 men in an attack on the federal arsenal at Springfield, MA. The local Massachusetts government put down the rebellion in February 1787. While the rebellion itself was small, and was quickly suppressed, for some it became a compelling argument for why the United States needed a stronger national-level government, including a standing army and militia. The challenge was how to do so while at the same time preventing the emergence of a national military that could threaten the new Republic.⁸

Civilian Control of the Military: Congressional and Executive Branch Responsibilities⁹

Accordingly, the Founding Fathers designed a system of civilian control of the military in a manner that conformed with its overall architecture of checks and balances. An elected President was designated the Commander-in-Chief of the nation's armed forces.¹⁰ This had the dual advantage of ensuring that an elected civilian leader presided over the nation's army while at the same time enhancing unity of command over the military. The President was also granted the ability to commission military officers, authority to appoint Secretaries to preside over military services, and the responsibility to regularly report to Congress on the state of the union.¹¹

The desire to ensure that the military reflected, and was subordinate to, the will of the people also led to considerable congressional powers on matters concerning the armed services. Congress was granted the power to lay and collect taxes for the common defense.¹² Congress was also given the sole power to declare war, the ability to raise and support armies, establish rules and regulations for the army, navy, and militias when in service of the United States.¹³ Finally, to hamper the establishment of a permanent, standing military, a provision was made specifying that no appropriation of money could be made for the army for a period longer than two years.¹⁴

The Military Culture of Respecting Civilian Control

This governance architecture was necessary, but not sufficient, to ensuring civilian control of the military. Here again, George Washington played a vital role in establishing the norms and culture that formed the foundation for American relationships between the military and the civilian leadership it served (also referred to as "civil-military" or "civilian-military" relations). For

⁸ The Encyclopedia Britannica, "The Shays Rebellion," December 9, 2016, https://www.britannica.com/event/Shayss-Rebellion

⁹ A further aspect of checks and balances in this area concerns the raising of militias, which were arguably viewed at the time as the centerpiece of the new American military establishment. As Steward writes, "... authority over the militia was a shared power. Congress could provide for organizing, arming, and disciplining the militia and governing "such Part of them as may be employed in the Service of the United States," but the Constitution specifically reserved to the states the authority to appoint militia officers and to train the militia "according to the discipline prescribed by Congress," pp. 112-113.

¹⁰ CRS In Focus IF10535, *Defense Primer: Congress's Constitutional Authority with Regard to the Armed Forces*, by Jennifer K. Elsea and R. Chuck Mason.

¹¹ Article II, Section 2 of the U.S. Constitution.

¹² Article I, Section 8 of the U.S. Constitution.

¹³ Article I, Section 8 of the U.S. Constitution.

¹⁴ Article I, Section 8 of the U.S. Constitution.

example, in putting down the 1794 Whiskey Rebellion in western Pennsylvania,¹⁵ President Washington ensured that his subordinates understood the importance of upholding civil rule of law while doing so.¹⁶ Despite disagreements—sometimes vehement—between military and civilian leaders throughout the nation's history, contemporary scholars of civil-military relations have noted that these norms, inculcated and promulgated by Washington and his successors, remain robust.¹⁷

Keeping the Standing Army Small

Another reflection of American skepticism towards a standing army—and the desire to ensure that it remained under civilian control—was a general policy to keep the peacetime active duty army relatively small.¹⁸ Indeed, from the founding of the nation to the Cold War era, the bulk of force structure was maintained in the reserve component (especially the militia/National Guard), except in times of major conflicts. When major conflicts arose—such as the Civil War, World War I, and World War II—the comparatively small active component was expanded through the activation of militia and federal reserves, recruitment of additional volunteers for the active component, and the use of conscription. At the end of the conflict, active force levels were dramatically reduced. For example, in 1916, the end strength of the active duty military was approximately 179,000 personnel; over the course of World War I, this grew to nearly 2.9 million. After the war's conclusion, U.S. military end strength decreased to approximately 250,000.¹⁹ Similarly, in 1939, there were fewer than 350,000 active duty personnel in all branches of the U.S. armed forces. During World War II, this number grew enormously, reaching over 12 million servicemembers on active duty by 1945.²⁰

¹⁵ The Whiskey Rebellion was an insurrection against a federally imposed excise tax on distilled spirits. By 1794, the rebellion threatened the viability of the newly established United States. After several attempts to resolve the dispute peacefully, President Washington himself led the U.S. militia to western Pennsylvania to put down the rebellion. See Peter Kotowski, "Whiskey Rebellion," George Washington's Mount Vernon Digital Encyclopedia of George Washington Website, http://www.mountvernon.org/digital-encyclopedia/article/whiskey-rebellion/.

¹⁶ President Washington wrote, "It has afforded me great pleasure to learn, that the general conduct and character of the Army [of militia sent against the Pennsylvania Whiskey Rebellion insurrectionists] has been temperate and indulgent; and that your attention to the quiet and comfort of the western inhabitants has been well received by them. Still, it may be proper constantly and strongly to impress upon the Army that they are mere agents of Civil power; that out of camp, they have no other authority, than other citizens that offences against the law are to be examined, not by a military officer, but by a Magistrate; that they are not exempt from arrests and indictments for violations of the law; that officers ought to be careful, not to give orders, which may lead the agents into infraction of law; that no compulsion be used towards the inhabitants in the traffic, carried on between them and the army; that disputes be avoided, as much as possible, and be adjusted as quickly as may be, without urging them to an extreme; and that the whole country is not to be considered as within the limits of the camp." Letter from President George Washington to Major General Daniel Morgan, as found in George Washington, The Writings of George Washington from the Original Manuscript Sources, 1745-1799, volume 34, Edited by John C. Fitzpatrick, Washington, U.S. Government Printing Office, 1931-1944, p. 159.

¹⁷ James Mattis, the subject of this report, directed a YouGov public opinion survey of military and civilian attitudes the first of its kind produced in over a decade, and one of the more comprehensive looks at these "norms" that help guide military attitudes and behavior towards civil society and civilian leaders. See Jim Mattis and Kori N. Schake, "A Great Divergence?," in *Warriors and Citizens: American Views of Our Military*, ed. Jim Mattis and Kori N. Schake (Stanford, CA: Hoover Institution Press, 2016), p. 289.

¹⁸ President Jefferson could not see a need for a permanent military body during peacetime, instead believing that state militias could be called upon to repel invasions, if necessary.

¹⁹ Data prepared by Kristy Kamarck, Analyst in Military Manpower, Congressional Research Service.

²⁰ CRS Report R43808, Army Active Component (AC)/Reserve Component (RC) Force Mix: Considerations and Options for Congress, by Andrew Feickert and Lawrence Kapp.

While this approach to organizing for military campaigns generally suited the preferences of the American people and its leaders—and in particular, their overall skepticism towards a standing army—it came at the expense of preparedness.²¹ This resulted in the expenditure of more American blood and treasure during wartime than would have happened if there had been greater peacetime investment in the armed forces, an issue that was apparently not of great concern until World War II.²²

World War II and the National Security Act of 1947

For the first century and a half of the United States' history, the architecture designed at the Constitutional Convention, combined with the American military cultural norm of respecting civilian control of the military and the preference to disband the military after cessation of hostilities, served to largely circumscribe the armed forces and prevent them from becoming overly dominant within the U.S. government. After World War I, the concept of a single defense establishment was considered around Washington, but the military services opposed such proposals and blocked their serious consideration.²³ Yet it was the experience of World War II— the surprise of Pearl Harbor, America's initial lack of preparedness, and a deficiently structured military organization to wage the campaign—that forced a serious reconsideration of the design of U.S. institutions associated with national security, and in particular, the military.²⁴ The old way of doing business was no longer viewed as sufficient by most observers at the time.²⁵ To that end, Congress began considering how to restructure its national security institutions as early as 1944, although it did not entertain serious recommendations and proposals until after the conclusion of the war.²⁶

"One of the lessons which have most clearly come from the costly and dangerous experience of this war is that there must be unified direction of land, sea and air forces at home as well as in other parts of the world where our Armed Forces are serving. We did not have that kind of direction when we were attacked four years ago—and we certainly paid a high price for not having it."

²¹ David E. Lockwood, A Brief History and Analysis of Civilian Control of the Military, Library of Congress, Congressional Research Service, January 20, 1974.

²² David E. Lockwood, *A Brief History and Analysis of Civilian Control of the Military*, Congressional Research Service Library of Congress, January 20, 1974.

²³ Between 1921 and 1945, some 50 bills were considered by Congress on the subject of unifying the military departments; because of military service opposition, only one of those bills reached the floor of the House of Representatives, where it was defeated. Congress, U.S. Senate, Committee on Armed Services, *Defense Organization and the Need for Change*. Staff Report, 99th Congress, 1st Session, Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, 1985. p. 49.

²⁴ House Select Committee on Post-War Military Policy, Post-War Military Policy, H. Rept. 1765, 78th Congress, 2nd Session.

²⁵ Roger R. Trask and Alfred Goldberg, *The Department of Defense 1947-1997 Organization and Leaders*, (Washington, DC: Office of the Secretary of Defense Historical Office) 1997 pp. 3-4. http://history.defense.gov/ Portals/70/Documents/other/DOD1947-1997OrgLeaders.pdf?ver=2014-06-24-093417-610

²⁶ House Select Committee on Post-War Military Policy, Post-War Military Policy, H. Rept 1765, 78th Congress, 2nd Session, p. 3.

On December 6, 1945, President Truman submitted a letter to Congress arguing that the existing War and Navy Departments should be

President Harry S. Truman, "Message to Congress," December 19, 1945.

combined into a single Department of National Defense. Until that time, the Departments of War and Navy operated separately, each headed by a cabinet-level Secretary, with the effective execution of military operations relying on voluntary coordination between the departments. President Truman contended that such voluntary coordination was inadequate and argued for the integration of the military services into a single department, which would report to a new cabinet-level advisor on matters of national defense.²⁷ The merits and risks of creating a new Department headed by a single individual were therefore vigorously debated by the military services, the executive branch, and Congress between 1944 and 1947.

Opposition to a New Department of National Defense²⁸

Although the United States has utilized a variation of Truman's proposed system of military governance for the past 60 years, there was, at the time, considerable pushback against his ideas. The proposal was controversial for at least three reasons. First, while demobilization of the Armed Forces took place at a rapid pace,²⁹ peacetime force levels after 1947 were still at around 1.5 million—considerably higher than the 1939 end strength of less than 350,000. Although the public tended to support a standing military of this size, this larger standing military, combined with Truman's proposal for universal military training, cultivated a sense of unease about departing from the country's tradition of peacetime mobilization as a component of maintaining civilian control of the military.³⁰ This sense was compounded in the wake of the use of atomic

"We can now begin I think, to see the pattern intended by our forefathers. They were unwilling to limit the Army to a specific number ... but they did want a small army. Therefore they gave Congress the power of the purse which they deemed a sufficient control... the framers of the Constitution were unwilling to give the Federal Government control of the general manpowermilitia-in time of peace, but they would give it the right to call forth the militia in wartime. It was their opinion that a large standing army or force which could be called for other purposes than to repel invasion would invite attack. This policy, of avoiding aggressive war or excuse for attack, was sound then and is sound now." Statement of Theodore Paulin, Assistant Professor of History, Swarthmore College, before the House of Representatives, Select Committee on Postwar Military Policy, Tuesday, June 5, 1945

weaponry, which highlighted the notion that future wars might not be decided by armies in the field.

The second concern about this new military organization was the notion of centralization of military governance, especially considering the enormous popularity of the military and its senior U.S. general and flag officers at the conclusion of World War II. Five-star officers such as the Army's George C. Marshall, Douglas MacArthur, Henry (Hap) Arnold and Fleet Admirals William D. Leahy, Ernest King, Chester Nimitz, and William F. (Bull) Halsey, Jr. had commanded millions of men and thousands of tanks, airplanes, and ships both U.S. and allied—in an unprecedented

²⁷ President Harry S. Truman, "Special Message to the Congress Recommending the Establishment of a Department of National Defense," December 19, 1945, https://www.trumanlibrary.org/publicpapers/index.php?pid=508&st=&st1=.

²⁸ The Department of National Defense eventually became the "National Military Establishment" in the 1947 Act. In 1949, the title of the new department was amended to become the Department of Defense.

²⁹ President Truman noted that the demobilization was proceeding at the rate of 1,500,000 per month.

³⁰ Truman himself was anxious not to over-militarize American society, which was one reason for the rapid demobilization which, in the view of some, proceeded too quickly. See Michael J. Hogan, *A Cross of Iron: Harry S. Truman and the Origins of the National Security State, 1945-1954* (New York: Cambridge University Press, 1998), pp. 71-72.

endeavor to defeat the Axis powers. In addition to field command, they played a central role in formulating both U.S. and allied grand strategies and military strategies in Washington and abroad. These men enjoyed a heroic reputation and were treated to ticker tape parades, addressed joint sessions of Congress, and some were even considered as presidential contenders.³¹

By contrast, outside Presidents Roosevelt and Truman, few if any senior Administration officials or Members of Congress enjoyed a similar status among the American people, during or after the war. At a personal and political level, these current and future senior general and flag officers might have been viewed as being a bit too powerful—not unlike the proconsuls of the Roman Empire. Given these concerns, legislators might have considered a ten year gap in service as ample time for their "stars to fade" as well as for their influence to diminish to an acceptable level.³²

Mixed in with the debate on how to best design a new military organizational structure were service rivalries which translated into deep differences of opinion between the Departments of War and the Navy about whether to reorganize under a single department. While the Army argued for bringing the departments together under a single civilian authority, the Navy maintained that doing so—thereby removing the cabinet-level status of Service secretaries—would overly empower a single individual.³³ Ultimately, as 1947 approached, it became clear that President Truman's preference for a single civilian Secretary of National Defense would prevail, against the protests of the Department of the Navy. Subsequently, debates about the new Secretary of National Defense were occasionally peppered with concerns about whether, under this new construct, the Department of the Navy might have primacy over the Department of War (or vice-versa), especially if the new Secretary had served in one service or the other.³⁴

Taken together, these three factors appear to have raised concerns that one byproduct of World War II might be the over-militarization of American society—a development that Truman himself feared. Added to this, the creation of a new Department of National Defense, under a single Secretary, caused many to wonder whether doing so might make the new defense establishment too powerful relative to the rest of the U.S. government, thereby undermining the principle of civilian control of the military. Yet several key post-war developments, in particular the rise of Soviet aggression, the belief that occupation and reformation of Germany and Japan was necessary to produce long-term peace, and the near-collapse of the British empire, underscored to many American leaders that the United States would need to assume a greater share of the burden

³¹ Discussion with Andrew Feickert, CRS Specialist in Military Ground Forces.

³² Discussion with Andrew Feickert, CRS Specialist in Military Ground Forces.

³³ Roger R. Trask and Alfred Goldberg, *The Department of Defense 1947-1997: Organization and Leaders*, U.S. Department of Defense, Historical Office of the Office of the Secretary of Defense) 1997. See also Testimony of Brig. Gen. Merritt A. Edson, United States Marine Corps, on Wednesday, May 7, 1947 in which he states, "Another thing which I would like to point out is that in my opinion, if we set up a joint staff, at the head of all the armed forces, which again in my opinion follows the footsteps of those nations which have become militaristic, that there will immediately ensue within that staff, a struggle for supremacy, Army, Navy, or Air, and eventually one of them will come out on top. Normally it is the ground forces who predominate because the ground forces in war, through sheer weight of numbers and the fact that decision is made on the ground, gain that control. In my opinion, sir, it would be just as bad to have any other branch dominate your national general staff. It makes no difference whether it is the Army, Navy, Marine Corps, or the Air Force, no single service, especially in a nation like ours, which is a maritime and an insular nation, should gain supremacy over all of the armed forces." p. 634; "National Defense Establishment (Unification of the Armed Services): Hearings before the Committee on Armed Services, Senate, Eightieth Congress, First Session, on S . 758, Part 3, various dates in April and May 1947.

³⁴ See ibid. p.8; Alice C. Cole et al (eds), *Department of Defense: Documents on Establishment and Organization,* 1944-1978 (Washington, DC, 1978, pp. 17-21.; Ed Cray, *General of the Army: George C. Marshall, Soldier and Statesman.* Rowman & Littlefield, 2000.

for promoting international stability than ever before. Greater U.S. involvement in the world therefore necessitated more serious consideration of how the institutions governing the military might be better organized. The problem of peacetime military and national security organization could no longer be ignored. The question then became how to establish this new, overarching department in a manner that addressed the concerns of the day—in particular, managing interservice rivalry—while preserving the principle of civilian control of the military.

Preserving Civilian Control of the Military in the 1947 Act and Restricting the Position of Secretary of Defense

The overall intention of the 1947 National Security Act was to ensure that the American instruments of national security and defense might be better prepared and organized in order to meet the challenges presented by the post-war period and the dawn of the Cold War. As such, in designing a new National Military Establishment (which would subsequently be redesignated as the Department of Defense), Congress sought to create greater unity of command while at the same time ensuring that the institution they were creating—and the individuals they would be empowering to lead it—would not threaten the principle of civilian control of the military.³⁵

As enacted in 1947, Section 202 of the National Security Act (later codified as 10 U.S.C. §113) stipulated that a person "who has within ten years been on active duty as a commissioned officer in a Regular component of the armed services shall not be eligible for appointment as Secretary of Defense." This provision emerged from conference negotiations—while both the House and Senate bills required the Secretary of Defense to be a civilian appointed by the President, the House bill specified that the Secretary of Defense "shall not have held a commission in a Regular component of the armed services." Historic congressional documentation is silent on the *specific* reasons for arriving at this compromise. However, one can infer from the statements made by Members of Congress as they debated the 1947 act, as well as the historical context at the time, that some viewed a break between military service and a Secretary of Defense appointment as desirable. This would help ensure that no one military service dominated the newly established Defense Department; ensure that the new Secretary of Defense was truly the President's (rather than a service's) representative; and, again, preserve the principle of civilian control of the military at a time when the United States was departing from its century-and-a-half long tradition of a small standing military.

Suspending the Restrictions on Prior Military Service of the Secretary of Defense: The Appointment of General Marshall

The new national security architecture—and the restrictions imposed upon the new Secretary of Defense position—were quickly put to the test as the United States became involved in the Korean War. Increasingly displeased with Secretary of Defense Louis A. Johnson, and recognizing the need to "choose a person of great national prestige to head the Department of Defense" in light of the "controversy surrounding Johnson's performance" and U.S. military readiness deficits exposed by the first months of the Korean War, President Truman approached

³⁵ Other measures designed to ensure that the principle of civilian control was upheld included preserving the civilian service secretaries and ensuring that the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff was a relatively weak position compared to the other service chiefs, and out of the chain of command.

General Marshall in early September 1950 to ask if he would "act as Secretary of Defense through the crisis [of the Korean War] if [President Truman] could get Congressional approval."³⁶

By 1950, General Marshall already had a distinguished career, having served in senior civilian and military positions, both in and out of the U.S. government. General Marshall was one of four World War II-era Army generals first temporarily designated as a five-star General of the Army in 1944, retiring in 1947 from that rank.³⁷ In November 1945, Truman sent Marshall to China in an unsuccessful attempt to mediate the civil war between Nationalists and Communists. He returned to the United States in January 1947 to become secretary of state for two years, a position without statutory restrictions. In that capacity, he presided over the formulation of the Truman Doctrine, the Marshall Plan, the Inter-American Treaty of Reciprocal Assistance, and negotiation of the NATO pact. After he left the State Department he achieved further distinction as president of the American Red Cross.³⁸

In 1949, General Marshall was returned by his request to "the active [duty] list of the Regular Army on March 1, 1949."³⁹ For administrative purposes following his restoration to the Army active duty list, General Marshall was assigned to the Office of the Chief of Staff of the Army.⁴⁰ In this role, General Marshall had no official position in the Army command structure, and had minimal official military duties and responsibilities.

General Marshall accepted President Truman's request to nominate him as Secretary of Defense, on the condition that if confirmed, his tenure would be limited to a period of six months to a year.⁴¹ Accordingly, on September 13, 1950, President Truman forwarded a legislative proposal to the House and Senate Armed Services Committees that addressed two restrictions in statute that would otherwise prevent Marshall's nomination. These included 10 U.S.C. §113 (described earlier in this report) and 10 U.S.C. §576, which, at the time, barred officers on the active list of the Army from holding civil office, either by election or by appointment, and stipulated that

³⁶ As reported in Forrest C. Pogue, *George C. Marshall: Statesman, 1945-1959* (New York: Viking, 1987), p. 422; see also Roger R. Trask and Alfred Goldberg, *The Department of Defense, 1947-1997: Organization and Leaders*, (Washington, DC: Historical Office of the Office of the Secretary of Defense, 1997), p. 64. A full analysis of the circumstances contributing to Johnson's removal as Secretary of Defense is outside the scope of this report—for a brief discussion of Johnson's tenure as Secretary of Defense, see the biographical overview provided by the Historical Office of the Office of the Office of the Secretary of Defense.gov/Multimedia/Biographies/Article-View/Article/ 571265/louis-a-johnson/.

³⁷ In addition to Marshall, Douglas MacArthur, Dwight D. Eisenhower, and Henry H. "Hap" Arnold were all designated as a five-star General of the Army in December 1944. Through P.L. 81-59, in following with the establishment of the U.S. Air Force as a separate and distinct military service branch through the National Security Act of 1947, Arnold's rank and grade as a five-star General of the Army was re-designated, making him the first (and to date only) five-star General of the Air Force.

³⁸ Roger R. Trask and Alfred Goldberg, *The Department of Defense*, 1947-1997: Organization and Leaders, (Washington, DC: Historical Office of the Office of the Secretary of Defense, 1997), p. 64; see also "Harry S. Truman Administration: George C. Marshall," at http://history.defense.gov/Multimedia/Biographies/Article-View/Article/ 571266/george-c-marshall/.

³⁹ See P.L. 79-333, sec. 1. Section 4 of P.L. 78-482 specified that individuals appointed under the act "shall, while on active duty, receive the same pay and allowances as a rear admiral of the upper half, plus a personal money allowance of \$5,000 per annum." Section 5 of P.L. 78-482 specified that those officers serving in the grade or rank of Fleet Admiral or General of the Army "shall, upon retirement or revision to the retired list, as the case may be, have on the retired list the highest grade or rank held by him on the active list or active duty: *Provided*, That each officer shall be entitled to retired pay equal to 75 per centum of the active-duty pay provided herein for an officer."

⁴⁰ U.S. Congress, House Armed Services Committee, *Authorizing Appointment of General of the Army George C. Marshall as Secretary of Defense*, 81st Cong., 2nd sess., September 15, 1950, H.Rept. 81-3094, p. 2.

⁴¹ Forrest C. Pogue, George C. Marshall: Statesman, 1945-1959 (New York: Viking, 1987), p. 422.

officers who accepted or exercised the functions of a civil office had to vacate their commissions, thereby ceasing to be an officer of the Army. In a cover letter accompanying the proposal, the President addressed the committee heads, Truman noted:

Attached is a draft of legislation which would permit General George C. Marshall to serve as Secretary of Defense. I request that you lay this matter before your committee with a view of obtaining early and favorable action by the Congress. I am a firm believer in the general principle that our national defense establishment should be headed by a civilian. However, in view of the present critical circumstances and General Marshall's unusual qualifications, I believe that the national interest will be served best by making an exception in this case.⁴²

While the measure had the support of many Members, it also encountered significant opposition from other Members, both at the committee and floor levels in each chamber. Supporters of the bill contended that the crisis of the ongoing Korean War justified making an exception to the relevant statutes for General Marshall, who was viewed as uniquely and exceptionally qualified for the position. Opponents of the measure asserted that the principle of civilian control over the military superseded all other considerations, including General Marshall's personal qualifications and the pressure of external circumstances. (For a detailed legislative history, see the **Appendix**.) As enacted, P.L. 81-788 suspended, for General Marshall's nomination only, those two statutory provisions preventing his consideration for the position of Secretary of Defense. P.L. 81-788 also included a nonbinding section outlining congressional intent in providing President Truman with the authority to nominate General Marshall:

It is hereby expressed as the intent of the Congress that the authority granted by this Act is not to be construed as approval by the Congress of continuing appointments of military men to the office of Secretary of Defense in the future. It is hereby expressed as the sense of the Congress that after General Marshall leaves the office of Secretary of Defense, no additional appointments of military men to that office shall be approved.

President Truman submitted the nomination of General Marshall to be Secretary of Defense to the Senate on September 18, 1950.⁴³ The Senate Armed Services Committee held a confirmation hearing for General Marshall on September 19, 1950, and favorably reported the nomination to the Senate on the same day.⁴⁴

While the question of civilian control of the military was discussed during the confirmation hearing, it was not the only issue raised, as General Marshall was also asked to address questions on a variety of other topics. When asked by Senator Lyndon B. Johnson if he had made any public statements "on the necessity for ... civilian control" of the Department of Defense, Marshall replied:

I just made one reference, not with respect to the Secretary of Defense himself, but in connection with representation on the National Security Council, that I objected in writing, when I was Secretary of State, to having three representatives of the fighting services on that Council.⁴⁵ I thought that representation was out of balance. It ought to be more civil

⁴² As reproduced in U.S. Congress, Senate Armed Services Committee, *Report of Proceedings: Presentation of Scroll to Senator Gurney*, 81st Cong., September 13, 1950, pp. 4-5.

⁴³ Congressional Record, September 18, 1950, pp. 15026.

⁴⁴ U.S. Congress, Senate Armed Services Committee, *Nomination of General of the Army George C. Marshall to be Secretary of Defense*, 81st Cong., 2nd sess., September 19, 1950.

⁴⁵ Marshall is referencing the National Security Act of 1947, which originally placed the secretaries of the military departments on the National Security Council. 1949 amendments to the National Security Act removed the secretaries of the military departments from the National Security Council.

and less military. I made that representation about the second week I was Secretary of State. I also suggested, although I do not think that it was done in writing, that the Council should have two or three men, civilians you might say without portfolio, sitting on it. I thought that would be a very valuable contribution.

Now, to go directly to your question, the only statement I recall having made was when as a second lieutenant, that I thought we would never get anywhere in the Army unless a solider was Secretary of War. As I grew a little older and served through some of our military history, particularly the Philippine Insurrection, I came to the fixed conclusion that he should never be a solider.⁴⁶

The Senate voted to confirm General Marshall's nomination to the office of Secretary of Defense on September 20, 1950, by a vote of 57-11, with 28 Senators not voting.

Statutory Changes to the Restriction on Secretary of Defense Eligibility in the FY2008 National Defense Authorization Act (P.L. 110-181)

Since the enactment of the National Security Act of 1947, the statutory qualification provision associated with prior military service of the Secretary of Defense has been modified once.

In January 2007, Representative Walter B. Jones introduced H.R. 417, which would have reduced the eligibility requirement to three years. The provision was adapted and included in the House Armed Services Committee (HASC) Chairman's mark of H.R. 1585, the initial House version of the FY2008 National Defense Authorization Act (NDAA).⁴⁷ As reported to the House on May 11, 2007, by the HASC, H.R. 1585 contained a provision (Section 903) that would amend sections 113, 132, and 134 of Title 10, U.S.C., to reduce from 10 years to 5 years the period of time following active duty military service before a commissioned officer of a regular component could be appointed as Secretary of Defense, Deputy Secretary of Defense, or Under Secretary of Defense for Policy. In a May 2007 press release, Representative Jones described the language as "[reducing] an outdated prohibition and [enabling] the President to choose from a greater pool of qualified candidates with relevant military expertise."⁴⁸

As the Senate amendment to the House bill contained no similar provision, a compromise was reached during conference committee negotiations. As enacted, Section 903 of the FY2008 NDAA (P.L. 110-181) reduced from 10 to 7 years the required interval between an individual's retirement from active duty as a commissioned officer of a regular component of the armed services and eligibility for service as Secretary of Defense, Deputy Secretary of Defense, or Under Secretary of Defense for Policy.

⁴⁶ U.S. Congress, Senate Armed Services Committee, *Nomination of General of the Army George C. Marshall to be Secretary of Defense*, 81st Cong., 2nd sess., September 19, 1950, p. 10

⁴⁷ CRS Report RL33999, *Defense: FY2008 Authorization and Appropriations*, by Pat Towell, Stephen Daggett, and Amy Belasco.

⁴⁸ Office of Congressman Walter Jones, "Defense Bill Passes Committee, Jones Authors Several Provisions for Military," press release, May 10, 2007, https://jones.house.gov/press-release/defense-bill-passes-committee-jones-authors-several-provisions-military-1.

Civil-Military Relations Today and the Nomination of General Mattis

Similar to the debates surrounding the nomination of General Marshall in 1950, many observers agree that General Mattis is qualified to take on the role of Secretary of Defense. The key contrast between the debates 66 years ago and today is that the public discussion surrounding the proposed nomination of General Mattis seems to be *less* about preserving the principle of civilian control of the military (although that is certainly being debated), and *more* about civilian-military relations more generally. Very few observers, if any, appear concerned that General Mattis, if appointed to the position of Secretary of Defense, will compromise the longstanding American tradition of ensuring that the military remains subordinate to the authority of civilian leaders. Instead, the possible appointment of General Mattis has served as a catalyst for a more wide-ranging discussion on a key question he raises in his own book: whether 40 years of an all-volunteer force—of which, the last 15 have seen continuous war—has significantly altered the ways in which the U.S. military, civil society, and civilian leaders relate to each other.⁴⁹ Several observers maintain that after the end of the Cold War, but particularly since 9/11, frictions and unhealthy tensions have emerged between the military and its civilian leadership, although few contend that these tensions might meaningfully challenge the principle of civilian control.⁵⁰

The ongoing discussion suggests that perceptions regarding the wisdom of nominating a recently retired military officer to the position of Secretary of Defense tend to be largely predicated upon one's opinions on the overall health of the broader civilian-military relationship. In the view of some, overreliance upon recently retired generals to fill key national security and government leadership positions—including that of the Secretary of Defense—is "dangerous," as doing so might upset the balance between the military and the rest of the government.⁵¹ To others, focusing on whether an individual has had prior military experience obfuscates a more important and substantive conversation on the meaning of the principle of civilian control of the military today. According to this view, rigid adherence to a formal, and superficial, interpretation of civilian-military relations is "dangerous" in an era when both state and non-state actors possess means of coercion and the lines between "civilian" and "military" spheres is increasingly blurred.⁵²

Other key questions that have emerged as part of the discussion include (but are not limited to) the following:

• In formulating and executing national security policy, what are the appropriate roles and responsibilities between civilian leaders and the military? In contrast to the "normal" model of civilian-military relations, whereby the civilians formulate guidance and give their military counterparts relatively wide latitude to execute that guidance, leaders—particularly during wartime—often play a more hands-on role.⁵³ Some view the degree of greater

⁴⁹ Jim Mattis and Kori S. Schake (eds), *Warriors and Citizens: American Views of our Military*, (Stanford: Hoover Institution Press) 2016.

⁵⁰ Richard H. Kohn "Out of control: the crisis in civil-military relations." The national interest 35 (1994): 3-17.

⁵¹ Loren DeJonge Schulman and Phillip Carter, "Trump is Surrounding Himself with Generals. That's Dangerous," *The Washington Post*, November 30, 2016.

⁵² Rosa Brooks, "Don't Freak Out About Trump's Cabinet Full of Generals," Foreign Policy, December 2, 2016, http://foreignpolicy.com/2016/12/02/the-founding-fathers-wouldnt-freak-out-about-trumps-cabinet-full-of-generals/

⁵³ Samuel Huntington posited the "normal" model of civilian-military relations in his 1957 book, The Soldier and the

involvement by civilians as damaging, while others maintain that the complexity of contemporary military operations, combined absence of more effective coordination mechanisms across the U.S. government have necessitated greater civilian involvement in military matters. One symptom of this greater civilian involvement is the growth of the National Security Council's (NSC) size.⁵⁴ This has, in turn, led to concerns about civilian "micromanagement" of the Department of Defense by the NSC. These concerns led Congress to pass a provision in S. 2943, the FY2017 National Defense Authorization Act, limiting the size of its professional staff to 200 persons.⁵⁵

- Related, does the fact that the U.S. military is a relatively small, all-volunteer force in which a small proportion of the population has served make it harder for the public to understand the military as an institution, and vice-versa? Is the all-volunteer force construct making it more difficult for civilian leaders to understand the military as a profession and the utility of force in accomplishing national security objectives?
- Will appointing a recently retired General to the position of Secretary of Defense affect the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff's ability to perform his statutory role as principal military advisor to the President?⁵⁶ Determining that the Joint Chiefs of Staff was structurally incapable of providing quality military advice to the President, the Goldwater-Nichols 1986 Department of Defense Reform Act (P.L. 99-433) sought to empower the Chairman to better perform his advisory responsibilities. Might the appointment of a recently retired four-star general risk creating a rival source of military advice to the President?
- Might the appointment of a recently retired General such as Mattis create the risk of politicizing the military? Overall, the military, as a profession, takes great pains to ensure that it stays apolitical so as to help ensure that the Commander-in-Chief has respect for the integrity of the military advice provided to them.⁵⁷ In taking a senior, cabinet-level position such as that of Secretary of Defense, might this change the President's view regarding whether the advice they are receiving from their military advisors is truly apolitical? This question is gaining increasing resonance, as Kori Schake, citing evidence gathered for her book on civil-military relations that she co-edited with General Mattis, finds that

NDAA%20final%20passage%20Summary%20FINAL.pdf.

State.

⁵⁴ See CRS Insight IN10521, "Right-Sizing" the National Security Council Staff?, by Kathleen J. McInnis.

⁵⁵ The conference report for S. 2943, section 1089 notes, "a larger NSC staff has created bureaucratic inefficiencies, incentivized staff involvement in operational and tactical national security decisions, weakened national security prioritization, and undermined strategic guidance that the country's national security apparatus requires to integrate and implement policy successfully." Chairman Thornberry put forward a similar provision in H.R. 4909, noting in a press release that "in recent years, the NSC has been repeatedly criticized for micromanagement. It has evolved from an advisory and coordinating body to a large, operational bureaucracy with no oversight or accountability. The NDAA restores the NSC to its original purpose by capping its staff at 200 people." https://armedservices.house.gov/sites/

⁵⁶ Bryan Bender, "Hagel Worries Mattis Might Eclipse Joint Chiefs," *Politico*, December 13, 2016. http://www.politico.com/blogs/donald-trump-administration/2016/12/chuck-hagel-concerns-james-mattis-defense-232594

⁵⁷ General Martin Dempsey (USA, Ret), "Keep your Politics Private, My Fellow Generals and Admirals," Defense One, August 1, 2016. http://www.defenseone.com/ideas/2016/08/keep-your-politics-private-my-fellow-generals-and-admirals/130404/.

political elites are increasingly viewing the military as "just another actor in political debates."⁵⁸ Somewhat related, what are the messages that the military forces more broadly are taking from this appointment? Might it suggest to some that affiliation with a political party is key to advancement to senior levels of the government?

• Has U.S. foreign policymaking been over-militarized, and would the appointment of General Mattis make it even more so? Particularly after the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001, many scholars and practitioners have argued that U.S. foreign policy has become more "militarized."⁵⁹ As evidence, these observers point to (among other things) the growth of DOD's role in security cooperation,⁶⁰ the heightened stature and power of combatant commanders relative to ambassadors,⁶¹ and the dominance of defense spending relative to other international affairs spending.⁶² According to this view, the militarization of foreign policy also represents an ends-ways-means disconnect, as many of the security challenges the United States faces requires comprehensive, "whole-of-government," rather than solely military, solutions.⁶³ Some therefore maintain that the appointment of a recently retired General to the position of Secretary of Defense might further exacerbate that trend.⁶⁴ Others, however, note that while in uniform General Mattis argued for more resources to

⁵⁸ Kori Schake, "All the President's Generals," *Foreign Policy*, December 3, 2016. http://foreignpolicy.com/author/ kori-schake/.

⁵⁹ See, for example: Gordon Adams and Shoon Murray (eds), *Mission Creep? The Militarization of U.S. Foreign Policy*, (Washington, DC: Georgetown University Press) 2014; U.S. Congress, House Committee on Armed Services, Hearing on Department of Defense and Department of State Partnership, 110th Cong., April 15, 2008; Rosa Brooks, How the Pentagon Became Walmart," *Foreign Policy*, August 9, 2016.

⁶⁰ John R. Deni, "Obama's Failure to Demilitarize U.S. Foreign Policy," *War on the Rocks*, October 30, 2015. https://warontherocks.com/2015/10/obamas-failure-to-demilitarize-u-s-foreign-policy/; Nina M. Serafino, "Foreign Assistance in Camouflage? Measuring the Military Security Cooperation Role," as found in Gordon Adams and Shoon Murray (eds), *Mission Creep? The Militarization of U.S Foreign Policy*, (Washington, DC: Georgetown University Press) 2014.

⁶¹ See, for example, Charles Ray, "Defining Lines of Authority," *Armed Forces Journal*, February 1, 2009, http://armedforcesjournal.com/defining-lines-of-authority/; Shoon Murray and Anthony Quintain, "Combatant Commanders, Ambassadorial Authority, and the Conduct of Diplomacy," as found in Gordon Adams and Shoon Murray (eds), *Mission Creep? The Militarization of U.S Foreign Policy*, (Washington, DC: Georgetown University Press) 2014. On pp. 185-186, the authors argue that, "If the question is whether the role of the combatant commander has become so expansive that it fundamental challenges the traditional role of the Ambassador as the principal interlocutor between the US government and a foreign government, the answer is 'No.'... But if the question is whether the combatant commanders and the activities of the COCOMS influence US relations at the country level, in some cases playing an agenda-setting role, or more often, pushing a focus on security issues, then our answer is 'Yes.'"

⁶² See Micah Zenko, "Don't Gut the Foreign Operations Budget," *Politics, Power and Preventive Action Blog*, Council on Foreign Relations, August 6, 2013, http://blogs.cfr.org/zenko/2013/08/06/dont-gut-the-foreign-operations-budget/; Charles B. Cushman, Jr., "Congress and the Politics of Defense and Foreign Policy Making," as found in Gordon Adams and Shoon Murray (eds), *Mission Creep? The Militarization of U.S Foreign Policy*, (Washington, DC: Georgetown University Press) 2014.

⁶³ Clark A. Murdock, Michéle A. Flournoy, et al. *Beyond Goldwater-Nichols: US Government and Defense Reform for a New Strategic Era, Phase 2 Report.* Center for Strategic and International Studies, 2005; James R. Locher, "Forging a New Shield," *Project on National Security Reform. Washington, DC: Center for the Study of the Presidency* (2008).

⁶⁴ Loren DeJonge Schulman and Phillip Carter, "Trump is Surrounding Himself with Generals. That's Dangerous," *The Washington Post*, November 30, 2016.

be allocated to the Department of State as a means to start correcting that imbalance. $^{\rm 65}$

• What is the role of Congress in the civilian-military relationship? Debates and discussions on civil-military relations have tended to focus on the military's relationship with civil society broadly, or with the commander-in-chief and their political appointees. Yet the Constitution, by ensuring that key responsibilities for the raising and maintenance of U.S. armed forces were granted to the legislative branch, arguably intends for Congress to also play a role in exercising civilian control of the military which, in turn, can influence the overall health of civil-military relations. Indeed, as some policymakers and observers have noted, the manner and process through which Congress considers this appointment may have a bearing on whether the principle of civilian control of the military is upheld.

Current State of Play

As the 115th Congress convenes, one of the first matters it will likely need to take up concerns whether to allow General Mattis's nomination to the position of Secretary of Defense to be considered by the Senate. This section details the current state of play and highlights several possible legislative courses of action.

Expedited Procedures Governing Senate Consideration of Legislation Waiving a Restriction Related to the Military Service of the Secretary of Defense⁶⁶

Section 179 of the Further Continuing and Security Assistance Appropriations Act, 2017 (P.L. 114-254), establishes special "fast track" procedures governing Senate consideration of a bill or joint resolution which would suspend the seven-year restriction contained in 113(a) of Title 10 of the *U.S. Code*. It does so for the first person nominated to be Secretary of Defense after enactment of P.L. 114-254 who has been retired at least three years.

In order to qualify for the expedited procedures, waiver legislation must be introduced during a 30-calendar day period which begins on the date that the 115th Congress convenes. The legislation may be introduced by the Senate Majority Leader or the Minority Leader, or their respective designees, or by the Chair or Ranking Minority Member of the Committee on Armed Services. Both the title of the legislation and the matter after the enacting (or resolving) clause are stipulated.

Once introduced, the legislation is to be referred to the Senate Committee on Armed Services. If the committee has not reported the waiver legislation within five session days after the date of its referral, it is automatically discharged of the further consideration of the measure.

Once pending on the Senate Calendar of Business (either by being reported or by the committee being discharged) it is in order to make a non-debatable motion to proceed to consider the legislation. This motion may be repeated if it has previously been disagreed. All points of order against the waiver legislation and its consideration are waived.

⁶⁵ Testimony of General Mattis, as found in Congressional Quarterly Transcriptions, "Sen. Carl Levin Holds a Hearing on U.S. Central Command and U.S. Special Operations Command," March 5, 2013.

⁶⁶ This section was authored by Christopher Davis, CRS Analyst on Congress and the Legislative Process.

If the Senate adopts the motion to proceed, the waiver legislation would be pending and the Senate would consider the measure until it has disposed of it. There would be up to 10 hours of debate, divided and controlled by the party floor leaders or their designees. A nondebatable motion to further limit debate is in order. Amendments and potentially dilatory motions are barred. At the conclusion of debate, and after an optional quorum call, the Senate would automatically vote on passage of the waiver legislation.

Passage of the waiver legislation in the Senate requires an affirmative vote of three-fifths of Members chosen and sworn—60 votes if there is no more than one vacancy in the Senate—the same threshold required for cloture on most legislation. The expedited procedures contained in Section 179, however, would permit the Senate to call up and reach a final vote on the waiver legislation without expending the same amount of floor time that could be necessary to call the waiver legislation up under the Standing Rules of the Senate and reach a vote thereon through the cloture process. In this regard, arguably the primary benefit of the Section 179 procedures is that they are a time saver.

Should waiver legislation be subsequently vetoed, Senate consideration of a veto message would be limited to up to 10 hours. Because these "fast track" procedures are enacted as a Senate rule in law, the Senate could adjust the provisions described above in whole or in part by unanimous consent. Section 179 of P.L. 114-254 does not establish any expedited procedures providing for House consideration of waiver legislation. Presumably such legislation would come to the House floor under the terms of a special rule reported by the House Committee on Rules, or depending on its level of support, under the Suspension of the Rules procedure.

Should waiver legislation ultimately be enacted, 10 U.S.C. 113(a) would no longer apply to General Mattis. The Senate would still, however, have to consider and confirm his nomination.

Basic Legislative Options

Notwithstanding the legislation recently enacted that would streamline Senate consideration of legislation to waive the statutory prohibition against recently retired officers from serving as Secretary of Defense, Congress may pursue other legislative options, including choosing to (1) suspend the statutory limitation; (2) eliminate entirely or reduce the limitation; or (3) take no action regarding the statutory limitation.

- Suspend the statutory requirement that seven years elapse between relief from active duty and appointment to position of Secretary of Defense. This would require the enactment of legislation similar in nature to P.L. 81-788, which created a one-time suspension of statutory requirements for General Marshall. Proponents of this option believe this would enable the Senate to proceed with confirming General Mattis while at the same time upholding the principle of civilian control of the military by requiring participation of the House of Representatives in the process. Opponents might suggest that the provision is, itself, outdated.
- Eliminate entirely or reduce the statutory requirement that seven years elapse between relief from active duty and appointment to position of Secretary of Defense. Much like the discussion surrounding the FY2008 National Defense Authorization Act, proponents of this option would likely maintain that the provision in Title 10 U.S.C. is outdated, and that the President should have maximum flexibility to appoint whomsoever they might wish to the position. Opponents to this course of action might maintain that doing so could risk the politicization of the military.

- Choosing not to pass legislation that would remove statutory barriers to the appointment of General Mattis as Secretary of Defense, thereby "blocking" his nomination. Proponents of this option might contend that a recently retired military officer serving in the position of Secretary of Defense might undermine the principle of civilian control of the military. Opponents would likely maintain that, much like the nomination of General Marshall, General Mattis is exceptionally qualified and supports the principle of civilian control of the military.
 - Related, should Congress choose not to pass relevant legislation, the Senate may choose to allow General Mattis's nomination to proceed, regardless. It is currently unclear what the legal implications of pursuing this option might be. Still, proponents of this option might contend that the language contained within Title 10 U.S.C. is unconstitutional, as it restricts the ability of the President to nominate whomsoever they might wish to their cabinet.⁶⁷ Opponents maintain that the Constitution gives Congress considerable authority over military matters, and that the provision has been in statute for almost 70 years.⁶⁸

⁶⁷ Shannon W. Coffin, "On the Legality of the Mattis Nomination," *National Review*, December 1, 2016. http://www.nationalreview.com/corner/442657/trump-can-nominate-whoever-he-wants-secdef

⁶⁸ Andrew C. McCarthy, "Trump Needs a Congressional Waiver to Appoint Mattis as Defense Secretary," *National Review*, December 3, 2016. http://www.nationalreview.com/corner/442734/trump-needs-waiver-appoint-mattis-defense-secretary

Appendix. Legislative History of the Appointment of General George C. Marshall to the Position of Secretary of Defense⁶⁹

This appendix provides the legislative history associated with the September 18, 1950, enactment of P.L. 81-788 ("An act to authorize the President to appoint General of the Army George C. Marshall to the office of Secretary of Defense"), which authorized the suspension of certain statutory requirements otherwise prohibiting General of the Army George C. Marshall from serving as the Secretary of Defense.

P.L. 81-788 was introduced at the request of President Harry Truman, and it was considered by the House and Senate over a period of four days in September 1950. While the measure had the support of many Members, it encountered significant and, at times, heated opposition by other Members, both at the committee and floor levels in each chamber.

Background

Increasingly displeased with Secretary of Defense Louis A. Johnson, and recognizing the need to "choose a person of great national prestige to head the Department of Defense" in light of the "controversy surrounding Johnson's performance" and U.S. military readiness deficits exposed by operations during the first months of the Korean War, President Truman approached General Marshall in early September 1950 to ask if he would "act as Secretary of Defense through the crisis [of the Korean War] if [President Truman] could get Congressional approval."⁷⁰ General Marshall accepted, on the condition that if confirmed, his tenure as Secretary of Defense would be limited to a period of six months to a year.⁷¹

President Truman informally requested Johnson's resignation in a private meeting on September 11:

Although Truman initially granted Johnson's request for a few days to think it over, the president called [Deputy Secretary of Defense Stephen T.] Early on 12 September to urge that Johnson resign immediately and recommend George C. Marshall as his successor. Resigning forthwith himself, Early gathered a small [Office of the Secretary of Defense] group to help compose a letter of resignation for Johnson to take to the Cabinet session that afternoon. Still hoping for a reprieve, Johnson took the unsigned letter with him, but when the two men met alone, Truman told the reluctant and distraught Johnson that he would have to sign.⁷²

⁶⁹ This section was authored by Heidi Peters, Research Librarian, Congressional Research Service.

⁷⁰ As reported in Forrest C. Pogue, *George C. Marshall: Statesman, 1945-1959* (New York: Viking, 1987), p. 422; see also Roger R. Trask and Alfred Goldberg, *The Department of Defense, 1947-1997: Organization and Leaders,* (Washington, DC: Historical Office of the Office of the Secretary of Defense, 1997), p. 64. A full analysis of the circumstances contributing to Johnson's removal as Secretary of Defense is outside the scope of this report—for a brief discussion of Johnson's tenure as Secretary of Defense, see the biographical overview provided by the Historical Office of the Office of the Secretary of Defense.gov/Multimedia/Biographies/Article-View/Article/ 571265/louis-a-johnson/.

⁷¹ Ibid.

⁷² Doris M. Condit, *The Test of War: 1950-1953.* Vol. 2 of *History of the Office of the Secretary of Defense*, edited by Alfred Goldberg. (Washington, DC: Historical Office of the Office of the Secretary of Defense, 1988), pp. 33-34.

As instructed, Johnson's resignation letter recommended that General Marshall should succeed him as Secretary of Defense:

it is my recommendation that [you] name as my successor a man of such stature that the very act of naming him to be Secretary of Defense will promote national and international unity. Such a man, in my opinion, is General George Marshall.... I recognize, of course, that many will argue that one of our great Generals should not be Secretary of Defense. I do not believe that this argument has validity in the case of General Marshall, who has already rendered distinguished service to his country, in a civilian capacity, as Secretary of State. I recognize also that an amendment to the National Security Act will be necessary, in order to make it legally permissible for General Marshall to serve as Secretary of Defense—but I believe that Congress will speedily amend the law in General Marshall's case, if you should so recommend.⁷³

Johnson's letter references Section 202 of the National Security Act of 1947 (P.L. 80-253), which specified that the Secretary of Defense was to be "appointed from civilian life by the President, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate," and provided that "a person who has within ten years been on active duty as a commissioned officer in a Regular component of the armed services shall not be eligible for appointment as Secretary of Defense."

George Catlett Marshall, General of the Army

General Marshall was

born in Uniontown, Pennsylvania, on 31 December 1880. He entered the Virginia Military Institute in 1897, graduated in 1901, and took a commission as second lieutenant in the United States Army in 1902.... Marshall had extensive combat experience in Europe during World War I, and between 1919 and 1924 he was aide-de-camp to General John J. Pershing. After three years in China (1924–27), he served for the next dozen years at posts in the United States.... He became a brigadier general in 1936. In 1939 just as World War II began in Europe, President Roosevelt appointed Marshall Army Chief of Staff. In that position and as a member of the Joint Chiefs of Staff beginning in 1942, Marshall labored unceasingly to build up U.S. defenses.... President Truman later described him as the 'architect of victory' in World War II.

...in November 1945 Truman sent him to China [as the Special Representative of the President to China] in an unsuccessful attempt to mediate the civil war between the Nationalists and Communists and to establish a coalition government. He returned to the United States in January 1947 to become secretary of state [during two years] marked by the Truman Doctrine, the Marshall Plan, the Inter-American Treaty of Reciprocal Assistance, and negotiation of the NATO pact. After he left the State Department he achieved further distinction as president of the American Red Cross.⁷⁴

⁷³ U.S. President (Truman), "Letter Accepting Resignation of Louis Johnson as Secretary of Defense," September 12, 1950, as provided by the American Presidency Project at http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/index.php?pid=13618.

⁷⁴ Roger R. Trask and Alfred Goldberg, *The Department of Defense, 1947-1997: Organization and Leaders*,

⁽Washington, DC: Historical Office of the Office of the Secretary of Defense, 1997), p. 64; see also "Harry S. Truman Administration: George C. Marshall," http://history.defense.gov/Multimedia/Biographies/Article-View/Article/571266/ george-c-marshall/.

General Marshall's Status as a Five-Star General of the Army

General Marshall was also one of four World War II-era Army generals first temporarily designated as a five-star General of the Army in 1944.⁷⁵

First authorized on December 14, 1944, as a temporary wartime grade by P.L. 78-482, the grade of General of the Army was made permanent on March 23, 1946, by P.L. 79-333. As established by P.L. 79-333, upon retirement General Marshall was entitled to continue to receive the same pay and allowances he had received while on active duty as General of the Army:

The officers appointed under the provisions of this section ... shall receive the pay and allowances prescribed by section 4 of [P.L. 78-482].... Any officer on the active list, or any retired officer, who is appointed under the provisions of this section and who has been or may hereafter be retired or relieved from active duty, shall be entitled to have his name placed on the retired list with the highest grade or rank held by him on the active list or while on active duty, and shall be entitled to receive the same pay and allowances while on the retired list as officers appointed under this section are entitled to receive while on active duty.⁷⁶

General Marshall retired in the grade of General of the Army on February 28, 1947, but was returned by his request to "the active [duty] list of the Regular Army on March 1, 1949" through P.L. 80-804, which provided that the

laws requiring retirement of Regular Army and Regular Air Force officer because of age shall not apply to officers of the Regular Army or Regular Air Force appointed in the grade of General of the Army pursuant to the Act of March 23, 1946 ... the President may, in his discretion, upon the request of the officer concerned, restore to the active list of the Regular Army or Regular Air Force any officer of the Regular Army or Regular Air Force on the retired list who was appointed in the grade of General of the Army pursuant to the Act of March 23, 1946.⁷⁷

For administrative purposes following his restoration to the Army active duty list, General Marshall was assigned to the Office of the Chief of Staff of the Army.⁷⁸ In this role, General Marshall had no official position in the Army command structure, and had minimal official military duties and responsibilities.⁷⁹

⁷⁵ In addition to Marshall, Douglas MacArthur, Dwight D. Eisenhower, and Henry H. "Hap" Arnold were all designated as a five-star General of the Army in December 1944. Through P.L. 81-59, in following with the establishment of the U.S. Air Force as a separate and distinct military service branch through the National Security Act of 1947, Arnold's rank and grade as a five-star General of the Army was redesignated, making him the first (and to date only) five-star General of the Air Force.

⁷⁶ See P.L. 79-333, sec. 1. Section 4 of P.L. 78-482 specified that individuals appointed under the act "shall, while on active duty, receive the same pay and allowances as a rear admiral of the upper half, plus a personal money allowance of \$5,000 per annum." Section 5 of P.L. 78-482 specified that those officers serving in the grade or rank of Fleet Admiral or General of the Army "shall, upon retirement or revision to the retired list, as the case may be, have on the retired list the highest grade or rank held by him on the active list or active duty: *Provided*, That each officer shall be entitled to retired pay equal to 75 per centum of the active-duty pay provided herein for an officer."

⁷⁷ Letter from Colonel R.C. Bing, Chief of the Legislative Liaison Office, to the Hon. William F. Knowland, United States Senate, September 15, 1950, as reproduced in the *Congressional Record*, September 15, 1950, pp. 14922; see also P.L 80-804, sec. 1.

⁷⁸ U.S. Congress, House Armed Services Committee, *Authorizing Appointment of General of the Army George C. Marshall as Secretary of Defense*, 81st Cong., 2nd sess., September 15, 1950, H.Rept. 81-3094, p. 2.

⁷⁹ David T. Zabecki, "Appendix B: Military Ranks," in *The Encyclopedia of the Vietnam War: A Political, Social, and Military History* (2nd ed, vol. 4), ed. Spencer C. Tucker (Santa Barbara, CA: ABC-CLIO, 2011), p. 1685.

Legislative Consideration of P.L. 81-788

Tuesday, September 12, 1950

Presidential Activities

After President Truman accepted Johnson's resignation, contemporary press accounts report that the President telephoned General Marshall late in the afternoon on September 12, 1950, and formally asked him to serve as Secretary of Defense.⁸⁰ General Marshall is reported to have immediately accepted the President's call to service.⁸¹

Johnson's letter of resignation, together with an acceptance letter from President Truman, was made public that evening.⁸²

Wednesday, September 13, 1950

Presidential Activities

On September 13, 1950, as press reports regarding Johnson's resignation and the President's selection of General Marshall to serve as Secretary of Defense circulated, President Truman forwarded a legislative proposal to Representative Carl Vinson (Georgia-6th District), then Chairman of the House Armed Services Committee, and Senator Millard Tydings (Maryland), then Chairman of the Senate Armed Services Committee. In a cover letter accompanying the proposal, the President addressed the committee heads:

Attached is a draft of legislation which would permit General George C. Marshall to serve as Secretary of Defense. I request that you lay this matter before your committee with a view of obtaining early and favorable action by the Congress. I am a firm believer in the general principle that our national defense establishment should be headed by a civilian. However, in view of the present critical circumstances and General Marshall's unusual qualifications, I believe that the national interest will be served best by making an exception in this case.⁸³

The text of President Truman's draft legislation was not preserved in electronically available House or Senate committee documents.

⁸⁰ See for example Joseph H. Short, "Truman Drops Johnson from Post in Cabinet: The Latter's Feud with Acheson is Called Factor in Change," *The Baltimore Sun*, September 13, 1950, p. 1 and Robert J. Donovan, "Johnson Resigns, Attacks His 'Enemies;' Truman Picks Marshall to Head Defense," *New York Herald Tribune*, September 13, 1950, p. 1.

⁸¹ U.S. President (Truman), "The President's News Conference," September 14, 1950, as provided by the American Presidency Project at http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/index.php?pid=13624.

⁸² See Walter Trohan, "Marshall is Defence [sic] Boss: Truman Drops Johnson as Member of Cabinet," *Chicago Daily Tribune*, September 13, 1950, p. 1.

⁸³ As reproduced in U.S. Congress, Senate Armed Services Committee, *Report of Proceedings: Presentation of Scroll to Senator Gurney*, 81st Cong., September 13, 1950, pp. 4-5.

House Activities

Meeting of the House Armed Services Committee

While Senate Armed Services Committee documents and the *Congressional Record* make reference to a meeting of the House Armed Services Committee during the morning of September 13, 1950—presumably to review and discuss the President's legislative proposal—this meeting appears to have taken place as an executive session, with no record of the committee's discussions or debate preserved through electronically available committee documents.⁸⁴

In floor remarks on September 15, 1950, Representative Paul J. Kilday (Texas-20th District), seeking to correct the "impression that ... [Representative Vinson] had attempted to rush this matter through the committee without an opportunity for everyone to be heard," noted that "[on the 13th] this matter was brought up and thoroughly discussed. Not only was each Member given an opportunity to speak upon it, but [Representative Vinson] called upon each member of the committee individually to state his views."⁸⁵

Floor Activity and Introduction of H.R. 9646

During the September 13, 1950, House session, Representative John McSweeney (Ohio-16th District) made floor remarks generally supporting General Marshall's reported nomination, while Representative John E. Rankin (Mississippi-1st District) made floor remarks criticizing General Marshall's record of service during World War II and as Secretary of State.⁸⁶ Representative Rankin characterized General Marshall's appointment as Secretary of Defense as a "serious mistake," and called for the nomination to be withdrawn.⁸⁷

Representative Vinson also introduced H.R. 9646 ("A bill to authorize the President to appoint General of the Army George C. Marshall to the office of Secretary of Defense"), which was referred to the House Armed Services Committee.⁸⁸

Legislative Provisions of H.R. 9646

As introduced, H.R. 9646 waived certain requirements associated with two statutory provisions specifically and only for General Marshall's nomination to the office of Secretary of Defense.

These requirements would have automatically made General Marshall ineligible for the position due to an insufficient period of time elapsing between his military service and appointment as Secretary of Defense (Section 202 of the National Security Act of 1947, which stipulated that a person who had, within 10 years, served on active duty as a commissioned officer in the regular armed services was ineligible for appointment as Secretary of Defense). Other statutory requirements would have forced him to relinquish his commission as an active duty Army officer in order to serve as Secretary of Defense (10 U.S.C. §576, which then barred officers on the active list of the Army from holding civil office, either by election or by appointment, and

⁸⁴ U.S. Congress, Senate Armed Services Committee, *Report of Proceedings: Hearing held before Committee on Armed Services on S. 4147*, 81st Cong., September 13, 1950, pp. 4-5. See also the *Congressional Record*, September 15, 1950, pp. 14957.

⁸⁵ Congressional Record, September 15, 1950, pp. 14957.

⁸⁶ Congressional Record, September 13, 1950, pp. 14750-14751.

⁸⁷ Ibid.

⁸⁸ Congressional Record, September 13, 1950, pp. 14771.

stipulated that officers who accepted or exercised the functions of a civil office vacated their commissions, thereby ceasing to be an officer of the Army).⁸⁹

H.R. 9646 further provided that, so long as he held the office of Secretary of Defense, General Marshall would retain his rank and grade as a General of the Army, would continue to receive the pay and allowances to which he was entitled by virtue of such rank and grade, and would be authorized to receive any difference between such pay and allowances and the salary prescribed by law for the office of the Secretary of Defense.⁹⁰

H.R. 9646 also specified that General Marshall would be subject to "no supervision, control, restriction, or prohibition (military or otherwise) other than would be operative with respect to him if he were not an officer of the Army" in the performance of his duties as Secretary of Defense.⁹¹

Senate Activities

Meeting of the Senate Armed Services Committee

At 11:30 a.m. on September 13, 1950, the Senate Armed Services Committee convened for a brief public meeting. After the meeting, Senator Tydings read out President Truman's letter to the committee "so that the press will have the information that has been sent up" by the President. Following a short question and answer period with members of the press in attendance, the Senate Armed Services Committee recessed and immediately reconvened in a closed executive session.⁹²

Although the committee was in executive session, the Senate Armed Services Committee preserved a transcript of session discussion and debate in committee documents.⁹³ Senator Tydings opened the executive session by noting that upon hearing the news of General Marshall's potential nomination, he had requested the "Legislative Counsel to draw different bills touching the matter different ways."⁹⁴ As General Marshall was still considered to be on active duty status, Senator Tydings noted that a legislative approach was quickly discarded that would have modified the existing law to "[make] it so that if a man was out of the service on the retired list for three or four years" he could be nominated to the office of Secretary of Defense.

Senator Tydings then presented two potential legislative options to the committee:

• modifying the existing statute to insert the phrase "except in time of war"; or

94 Ibid., p. 1

⁸⁹ While a full legislative history of 10 U.S.C. §576 is outside the scope of this report, similar statutory provisions are now codified as 10 U.S.C. §973 ("Duties: officers on active duty; performance of civil functions restricted").

⁹⁰ As later clarified in the *Congressional Record* by Representative Vinson, General Marshall then received annual pay and allowances totaling \$18,771 in his rank and grade as General of the Army. The annual salary of the Secretary of Defense at that time was \$22,500—meaning that as Secretary of Defense, Marshall would continue to receive the annual sum of \$18,771 from the Department of the Army, and would further receive the annual sum of \$3,729 from the Department of Defense. See *Congressional Record*, September 15, 1950, pp. 14958.

⁹¹ During House floor debate on September 15, 1950, Representative Vinson described this provision as "completely [divorcing] General Marshall from the military altogether. The language is intended for that purpose, so that he will not be subject to court-marshal, and he cannot be ordered around. He gets completely free of all military attachments, as far as the statute is concerned." See *Congressional Record*, September 15, 1950, pp. 14969.

⁹² U.S. Congress, Senate Armed Services Committee, *Report of Proceedings: Presentation of Scroll to Senator Gurney*, 81st Cong., September 13, 1950, pp. 4-5.

⁹³ U.S. Congress, Senate Armed Services Committee, *Report of Proceedings: Hearing held before Committee on Armed Services on S. 4147*, 81st Cong., September 13, 1950.

• passing legislation making an exception to the relevant statutes for General Marshall "alone, so that the law will remain intact and nobody else can get in, even in time of war, unless we pass a special act."⁹⁵

The first proposal received little attention during the recorded committee discussion.

Committee attention chiefly focused on the second proposal, with many Senators, including Senator Tydings, contending that the present "time of great crisis" justified making a specific, personal exception to the relevant statutes for General Marshall, who was viewed as having a record of service and leadership that made him uniquely and exceptionally qualified to take up the duties and responsibilities of the office of Secretary of Defense. General Marshall was further seen as having "the confidence of the people" to lead the Department of Defense during wartime, with one Member asserting that his appointment would "spread confidence throughout our [allies and would] cause our enemies to be a great deal more cautious before they make any overt movements right at this time."⁹⁶ Other Senators looked beyond General Marshall's qualifications to support the procedural approach taken by the second proposal—one Member stated that providing a specific exception for General Marshall alone "indirectly serves notice to the people that this bill is designed for only one man, for only one appointment, and to meet an emergency."⁹⁷

However, others objected, with Senator William F. Knowland (California) pointing to the "fundamental question" of civilian control of the military establishment raised by General Marshall's proposed nomination, especially in light of his status as an active duty military officer.⁹⁸ On a procedural level, Senator Knowland objected to Truman "asking, upon twenty-four hours' notice, without prior consultation with this Committee or with the Congress, a change in the fundamental law of the land," and further charged that the committee was being

rushed off its feet, without a chance to explore all of the implications of this suggested change ... in less than one day's notice we are being asked to waive [the relevant section of the National Security Act of 1947], and I believe, regardless of the fact that you write this in for one man, it is the old story of the camel getting his head in under the tent. Once having waived the law, it is going to be far easier for the President or any President to ask for its waiver a second time.... I think it is a very serious step we are being asked to take. The committee may in its judgement—and apparently is prepared to go ahead and approve this and send it to the floor. But I want to emphasize that I think we are taking an unprecedented step and one that may rise to plague this nation in the years ahead, when it may not be George Marshall who is being suggested for the position.⁹⁹

Senator Knowland, while acknowledging General Marshall's qualifications, contended that equally well qualified candidates could be identified whose service as the Secretary of Defense would not require the suspension or alteration of existing United States law. Senator Harry P. Cain (Washington), in voicing his support for Senator Knowland's views, further objected to the "pre-merchandising" of the appointment by Truman to the public, describing Truman's actions as placing the committee in an "impossible situation."¹⁰⁰

⁹⁵ Ibid., p. 2.

⁹⁶ Ibid., selected quotations drawn from remarks by Senator Tydings on p. 4 and Senator Richard B. Russell (Georgia) on p. 14.

⁹⁷ Ibid., selected quotation drawn from remarks by Senator Lester C. Hunt (Wyoming) on p. 10.

⁹⁸ Ibid., p. 6.

⁹⁹ Ibid., pp. 7-10.

¹⁰⁰ Ibid., p. 17.

By a vote of 10 to 2, with one member not voting, the Senate Armed Services Committee voted to proceed in reporting the committee's original bill to the Senate. Although Senator Tydings pressed for unanimous support of the bill, both Senator Knowland and Senator Cain refused to vote in support of the measure. Procedural and administrative remarks made by Senator Tydings during the session also call attention to his view that the committee and the Senate should expedite passage of the measure, with an eye to confirming General Marshall's appointment in the Senate before the September 23 congressional recess for the 1950 elections.¹⁰¹

Floor Activity and Reporting of S. 4147

The bill was reported as S. 4147 during the afternoon Senate session, accompanied by a committee report including the minority views of Senator Knowland and Senator Cain.¹⁰²

Legislative Provisions of S. 4147

Using legislative text identical to H.R. 9646, S. 4147 waived certain statutory requirements specifically and only for General Marshall's nomination to the office of Secretary of Defense.

Thursday, September 14, 1950

House Activities

Committee Activity

During the morning of September 14, 1950, the House Armed Services Committee conducted a full committee hearing on two pending pieces of legislation—S. 4135, which would have authorized the President to appoint General Omar N. Bradley as a General of the Army, and S. 4136, which would have included the Coast Guard within the provisions of the Selective Service Act of 1948, and would have further authorized the President to extend enlistments in the Coast Guard.

In concluding the hearing, Representative Vinson noted that the Committee's consideration of the two bills "[disposed] of everything that I know of that is on our calendar up to this hour, except the bill that we will vote on tomorrow, the bill in regard to General Marshall."¹⁰³

Floor Activity

During the afternoon House session, Representative Clare E. Hoffman (Michigan-4th District) made floor remarks characterizing General Marshall's nomination to serve in the office of Secretary of Defense as a "tragic mistake." Representative Hoffman's remarks outlined his stance against General Marshall's appointment, questioning General Marshall's World War II service record, his physical capability to assume the duties and responsibilities of the office of Secretary

¹⁰¹ Senator Tydings sought to avoid a recess appointment of Marshall, which would see "General Marshall appointed without the right of confirmation by the Senate," which he saw as not being "a good way to do business." See ibid., p. 19.

¹⁰² U.S. Congress, Senate Armed Services Committee, *Authorizing the President to Appoint General of the Army George C. Marshall to the Office of the Secretary of Defense*, 81st Cong., 2nd sess., September 13, 1950, S.Rept. 81-2564.

¹⁰³ U.S. Congress, House Armed Services Committee, *Full Committee Hearings on S. 4135 and 4136*, 81st Cong., 2nd sess., September 14, 1950, H.Hrg. 81-220.

of Defense, and his view of General Marshall as "[favoring] the Communist policy of the conquest of China" through his actions as Special Representative of the President to China in 1945 and 1946.¹⁰⁴

Also during the afternoon House session, Representative Jacob K. Javits (New York-21st District) briefly mentioned General Marshall's nomination in the context of extended remarks on the Korean War. While Representative Javits expressed his view that General Marshall would do an "effective job" if confirmed, he noted the "troublesome problems involving the continued civilian control of the military" invoked by General Marshall's nomination.¹⁰⁵

Senate Activities

Floor Activity

Although the Senate briefly considered S. 4147 during its September 14, 1950, session, Senator Walter F. George (Georgia) requested that action on a motion to reconsider a vote by which the Senate voted to disagree to a House amendment to Senate amendment 191 to the Revenue Act of 1950 (H.R. 8920) be given precedence in order to expedite the work of a conference committee for the measure. Senator Harry F. Byrd (Virginia), who was serving as floor manager for S. 4147 in Senator Tydings' absence, agreed—provided that S. 4147 would be the next order of business following Senate action on the motion to reconsider.

However, due in part to the Senate's consideration of the motion to reconsider consuming more time than had been anticipated, the Senate ultimately moved to stand in recess until the next day, with S. 4147 considered to be pending business for the next legislative day.¹⁰⁶

Friday, September 15, 1950

House Activities

Meeting of the House Armed Services Committee

At 10 a.m. on September 15, 1950, the House Armed Services Committee met in executive session to consider H.R. 9646. In opening the session, Representative Vinson noted that it was the "first time" he had "ever heard of the House of Representatives having an opportunity to pass upon an executive appointment ... [ordinarily] the Senate has that right, but this bill is so drafted that we, for the first time, act on the question of confirmation by repealing a law."¹⁰⁷

During the session, discussion and debate was limited to an extended statement from Representative Dewey Short (Missouri-7th District) objecting to the pending legislation.¹⁰⁸ Among other objections, Representative Short questioned General Marshall's physical capability to serve as Secretary of Defense, and advocated for the principle of civilian control of the military

¹⁰⁴ Congressional Record, September 14, 1950, pp. 14835-14836.

¹⁰⁵ Congressional Record, September 14, 1950, pp. 14867.

¹⁰⁶ Congressional Record, September 14, 1950, pp. 14810-14828.

¹⁰⁷ U.S. Congress, House Armed Services Committee, *Executive Session Regarding H.R. 9646*, 81st Cong., 2nd sess., September 15, 1950, p. 2.

¹⁰⁸ Ibid., pp. 2-9. Short also advocated for Representative Vinson's service as Secretary of Defense.

establishment. Following Representative Short's remarks, the House Armed Services Committee voted 18 to 7 to proceed in reporting H.R. 9646 to the House.

Floor Debate

Representative Vinson reported H.R. 9646, together with a committee report, back to the House during the afternoon House session.¹⁰⁹

After the conclusion of routine House business, H.R. 9646 was brought to the floor after a twothirds vote in favor of adopting standard procedural considerations outlined by H.Res. 853.¹¹⁰

The ensuing floor debate was contentious and at various times strongly supportive or sharply critical of General Marshall. Opposition to the bill in light of General Marshall's personal qualifications focused on questioning General Marshall's physical capability to assume the duties and responsibilities of the office of Secretary of Defense; challenging General Marshall's record of service as Special Representative of the President to China and as Secretary of State; and allegations that General Marshall would be unable to set aside any prior "special attachments" to the U.S. military establishment and effectively lead the combined military and civilian elements of the Department of Defense.

Most representatives voicing opposition for the bill strongly advocated for holding the principle of civilian control of the military establishment above the personal qualifications of General Marshall, with some charging that the bill represented a "[weakening] of the Constitution" and a "first step toward a military state."¹¹¹ Some further contended that Marshall was not the "indispensable" man to serve in the office of Secretary of Defense at that time, as equally well qualified candidates could be identified whose service as the Secretary of Defense would not require the suspension or alteration of existing United States law.¹¹²

Supporters of the bill, such as Representative Vinson, argued that in light of the "[critical] present international situation," and the need for "[restoration of] confidence in our military leadership," General Marshall's record of service and leadership would allow him to

undertake this vast responsibility and, without the slightest postponement of urgently needed defense programs now under way, get the defense effort on a steady keel and carry it through with efficiency and dispatch.... The Nation cannot afford to take out time to educate a new Secretary of Defense. At least a year would pass before a new person could be truly effective. The Nation cannot now afford to indulge itself in a year of indecision and delay.¹¹³

Representative Vinson also addressed the issue of civilian control of the Department of Defense:

With General Marshall as Secretary of Defense there can be no sensible case made that he, as a military man is likely to perform dangerously as regards our national institutions. Not

¹⁰⁹ U.S. Congress, House Armed Services Committee, *Authorizing Appointment of General of the Army George C. Marshall as Secretary of Defense*, 81st Cong., 2nd sess., September 15, 1950, H.Rept. 81-3094.

¹¹⁰ As reported by the House Committee on the Rules and accompanied by H.Rept. 81-3089, H.Res. 853, among other procedural considerations, limited general debate on the bill to a period of two hours, which was to be equally divided and controlled by the chairman and ranking minority member of the House Armed Services Committee.

¹¹¹ Remarks from Representative Herbert A. Meyer (Kansas-3rd District), *Congressional Record*, September 15, 1950, pp. 14962.

¹¹² Congressional Record, September 15, 1950, pp. 14961. Several Representatives advocated for the service of House Armed Services Committee Chairman Carl Vinson as Secretary of Defense.

¹¹³ Ibid., pp. 14954.

only does his own background and personal convictions and public record shout the denial to that, but just what is the practical situation in the Government? We still have the President, a civilian.... We still have the National Security Council which formulates the Nation's military and foreign policies, headed by the President and composed of civilians outnumbering the Secretary of Defense. And of course we still have...the Senate and the House of Representatives, and the Supreme Court as well, all of which exercise civilian control over the Armed Forces and over the Secretary of Defense. So, while I subscribe to the principle set out in the Unification Act, the fact remains that this temporary suspension of the law cannot and assuredly will not have any hurtful impact on our governmental processes ... the question before the committee remains ... whether or not the pressure of time is such that the Nation should resort to a draft of General Marshall.¹¹⁴

Amendments Proposed

Two procedural motions that would have returned H.R. 9646 to committee were introduced and defeated, while four amendments to H.R. 9646 were offered during floor debate.

Representative James G. Fulton (Pennsylvania-31st District) offered an amendment that would have authorized the appointment of Representative Vinson to the office of Secretary of Defense instead of General Marshall—Representative Vinson then made a point of order that the amendment was not germane to the bill. The House Chair sustained the point of order, and the amendment was dismissed.

Representative Vinson offered an amendment that would insert a new section to the bill expressing the intent and sense of the Congress in granting the President the authority to appoint General Marshall as Secretary of Defense:

It is hereby expressed as the intent of the Congress that the authority granted by this Act is not to be construed as approval by the Congress of continuing appointments of military men to the office of Secretary of Defense in the future. It is hereby expressed as the sense of the Congress that after General Marshall leaves the office of Secretary of Defense, no additional appointments of military men to that office shall be approved.

In offering the amendment, Representative Vinson stated that he wished it to be

distinctly understood that this bill shall not be a continuing precedent for the appointment of military men. We want to adhere to the viewpoint expressed in the President's letter, civilian control. For that reason I want the sense of the Congress affirmatively expressed not only in the committee report but also in the very heart of the bill.¹¹⁵

Representative Javits then offered a substitute amendment to Representative Vinson's amendment that would state that

[i]t is the intent of Congress that the authority granted to the President by this act shall not constitute a precedent or reversal of the policy of our Government that there shall be civilian control of the National Military Establishment.

Representative Javits's substitute amendment was rejected by voice vote; Representative Vinson's amendment was agreed to by voice vote.

¹¹⁴ Others argued that General Marshall had effectively retired after stepping down as Army Chief of Staff in November 1945, meaning that Congress had only been asked to determine if there was "anything sacred" about the requirement for 10 years to elapse between an individual's military service and appointment as Secretary of Defense. See ibid., pp. 14954-14955, and 14966.

¹¹⁵ Ibid., pp. 14969-14970.

Representative Short offered an amendment that would have inserted a sunset clause into the legislation: "This bill shall terminate 1 year after its enactment."

Representative Short's amendment was defeated by a vote of 136 to 61.

Vote and Passage

By a vote of 220-105, with 101 representatives not voting and three representatives answering "present" to the roll call, H.R. 9646 passed the House and was sent to the Senate.

Senate Activities

Floor Debate

On September 15, 1950, the Senate resumed consideration of S. 4147. Senator Byrd, continuing to act as floor manager for the bill in Senator Tydings's absence, offered an extended explanation of the bill, which summarized the Senate Armed Services Committee's consideration of the legislation, and advocated for the passage of the measure in light of the "crisis" of the Korean War and General Marshall's "supreme qualifications" to take up the duties and responsibilities of the office of Secretary of Defense.

As in the House, the ensuing floor debate was contentious, extensive, and at various times strongly supportive or sharply critical of General Marshall.¹¹⁶ Debate brought up many of the same issues raised in committee meetings, and chiefly focused on the question of holding the principle of civilian control of the military establishment above the personal qualifications of General Marshall.

Substitution of House Bill

As the Senate debate continued, a message from the House Clerk to the Senate announced that the House had passed H.R. 9646.¹¹⁷ By unanimous consent, the Senate accordingly substituted H.R. 9646 for S. 4147, and resumed its consideration of the measure.

Vote and Passage

By a vote of 47-21, with 28 Senators not voting, H.R. 9646 passed the Senate.

Enactment of H.R. 9646 and Confirmation of General Marshall

H.R. 9646 was signed into law by President Truman on September 18, 1950, as P.L. 81-788.

¹¹⁶ Senator William E. Jenner (Indiana) delivered a series of highly personal attacks against General Marshall, including making assertions that General Marshall was "eager to play the role of a front man for traitors"; that General Marshall was "a living lie"; and that he acted as an "errand boy, a front man, a stooge, or a coconspirator for this administration's crazy assortment of collectivist cutthroat crackpots and Communist ... appeasers." See ibid., pp. 14914 and 14917. These allegations were immediately repudiated by other senators, including Senator Leverett Saltonstall (Massachusetts), who rose following Senator Jenner's remarks to state that he wished he had the "words and the voice to express how strongly I disagree ... if there is any man in America who is decent and clean it is General George C. Marshall.... I wish I had the vocabulary to answer the statement that General Marshall's life is a lie, because if there ever was a life spent in the interest of our country, a life that is not a lie, it is the life of George C. Marshall." See ibid., pp. 14917-14918.

¹¹⁷ Ibid., pp. 14924.

Following a confirmation hearing held on September 19, 1950, the Senate voted to confirm General Marshall's nomination to the office of Secretary of Defense on September 20, 1950, by a vote of 57-11, with 28 Senators not voting.¹¹⁸

General Marshall took office as the third Secretary of Defense on September 21, 1950, and would serve in that role until September 12, 1951.

Author Contact Information

Kathleen J. McInnis Analyst in International Security [redacted]@crs.loc.goy7-....

¹¹⁸ See U.S. Congress, Senate Armed Services Committee, *Nomination of General of the Army George C. Marshall To Be Secretary of Defense*, 81st Cong., 2nd sess., September 19, 1950, and *Congressional Record*, September 20, 1950, pp. 15182.

EveryCRSReport.com

The Congressional Research Service (CRS) is a federal legislative branch agency, housed inside the Library of Congress, charged with providing the United States Congress non-partisan advice on issues that may come before Congress.

EveryCRSReport.com republishes CRS reports that are available to all Congressional staff. The reports are not classified, and Members of Congress routinely make individual reports available to the public.

Prior to our republication, we redacted phone numbers and email addresses of analysts who produced the reports. We also added this page to the report. We have not intentionally made any other changes to any report published on EveryCRSReport.com.

CRS reports, as a work of the United States government, are not subject to copyright protection in the United States. Any CRS report may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without permission from CRS. However, as a CRS report may include copyrighted images or material from a third party, you may need to obtain permission of the copyright holder if you wish to copy or otherwise use copyrighted material.

Information in a CRS report should not be relied upon for purposes other than public understanding of information that has been provided by CRS to members of Congress in connection with CRS' institutional role.

EveryCRSReport.com is not a government website and is not affiliated with CRS. We do not claim copyright on any CRS report we have republished.